No. 22-CV-869

# **District of Columbia**Court of Appeals

Clerk of the Court Received 02/28/2023 01:58 PM Resubmitted 02/28/2023 02:25 PM Filed 02/28/2023 02:25 PM

CONSYS, INC.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

CITYPARTNERS 5914, LLC

and

**EAGLE BANK** 

Defendants-Appellees.

On Appeal of D.C. Superior Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law Case No. 2020 CA 002042 R(RP)

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

BRAD C. FRIEND, ESQUIRE
D.C. Bar No. 490430
Kraftson Caudle
1600 Tysons Boulevard, Suite 250
McLean, Virginia 22102
(703) 873-5500
bfriend@kraftsoncaudle.com
Counsel for Appellant Consys, Inc.

February 28, 2023

### **RULE 28(a)(2) CERTIFICATE AS TO PARTIES**

### A. Parties and Counsel

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL**

- 1. Pursuant to D.C. Code § 40-301.02, a lien claimant must record its notice of mechanic's lien "during the construction or within 90 days after the earlier of the completion or termination of the project." Whether Plaintiff timely filed its notice of mechanic's lien against CityPartners 5914, LLC's ("CityPartners" or "Defendant") real property during construction or within 90 days after the earlier of the completion or termination of the project at issue?
- 2. Pursuant to D.C. Code § 40-301.01, "[e]very building erected, improved, added to, or repaired at the direction of the owner, or the owner's authorized agent," shall be subject to a lien in favor of the contractor. Whether, during the receivership of Defendant's real properties, the court-appointed receiver had authority to assume the rights of the Defendant, or act on the Defendant's behalf, in contracting with Plaintiff to remediate Defendant's properties?

- 3. Whether the court-appointed receiver exceeded his authority by contracting with Plaintiff to install new roofs on the buildings at Defendant's properties?
- 4. Whether the filing of an undertaking, and related lien release, summarily dismisses a lien claimant's underlying cause of action to enforce its mechanic's lien?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 27, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Complaint in the Superior Court asserting a cause of action to enforce its mechanic's lien against Defendant's real property. A3. In its Complaint, Plaintiff also filed a separate cause of action for quantum meruit against Defendant. A5. Plaintiff's claims were relating to Plaintiff's unpaid work on Defendant's real properties while such properties were subject to a court-ordered receivership. A3-5. In the Superior Court, the Defendant filed three (3) separate pre-trial motions<sup>1</sup> seeking to dismiss Consys, Inc.'s claims on the ground that the court-appointed receiver lacked authority to contract for Plaintiff's work on the properties. A510, A22, A71. The Superior Court denied all three (3) motions, and in two of its orders the Superior Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defendant filed a 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss, Motion for Reconsideration of its 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss, and Motion for Summary Judgment in response to Plaintiff's Complaint.

specifically held that the receiver was authorized to act on behalf of the Defendant with respect to Plaintiff's work on the properties. A514-516, A28.<sup>2</sup>

After Plaintiff filed its lawsuit, but before trial, the Defendant filed an undertaking with the Court to bond-off Plaintiff's mechanic's lien against Defendant's real property. A528. The appellee, Eagle Bank, as surety, issued a letter of credit as the undertaking and became a party to the litigation *ipso facto* pursuant to D.C. Code § 40-303.18. A528. Subsequently, the Plaintiff proceeded to trial on its mechanic's lien claim and quantum meruit claims asserted in its Complaint.

Upon conclusion of trial, the Superior Court issued its Final Order denying Plaintiff's mechanic's lien claim and quantum meruit claims. A79-96. The Superior Court denied Plaintiff's mechanic's lien on the following grounds<sup>3</sup>:

(1) Plaintiff failed to timely file its notice of mechanic's lien in accordance with D.C. Code § 40-301.02. A93-95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Superior Court denied Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment without issuing findings of fact or conclusions of law. A71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is no dispute that Plaintiff performed the work at issue in its mechanic's lien, the work was performed on Defendant's real property at 1331-1333 Alabama Ave., and that plaintiff was not paid for such work. A78.

- (2) The Receiver lacked authority to contract with Plaintiff on behalf of the Defendant in accordance with D.C. Code § 40-301.01. A95-96, A81-85, A88-90.
- (3) To the extent agency exists, the Receiver's actions exceeded his authority. A96, A86-88.
- (4) The mechanic's lien claim could not be enforced because of the filing of Defendant's undertaking and Plaintiff's related filing of a release of the mechanic's lien against the real property at issue. A93, A96.

Plaintiff appeals the Superior Court's denial of its mechanic's lien claim.

Plaintiff is not appealing the Superior Court's denial of its quantum meruit claims.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arose from the receivership of the Congress Heights apartment complex located at 1331 Alabama Ave. S.E., Washington, D.C. 20032, 1333

Alabama Ave. S.E., Washington, D.C. 20032, 1309 Alabama Ave. S.E.,

Washington, D.C. 20032, and 3210 13<sup>th</sup> Street S.E., Washington, D.C. 20032.<sup>4</sup>

A176. Pursuant to the D.C. Tenant Receivership Act, D.C. Code §§ 42-3651.01, *et seq.* ("TRA"), on September 26, 2017, the Superior Court appointed David

Gilmore as the receiver ("Receiver") for the Congress Heights properties. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Congress Heights apartment complex included four (4) apartment buildings located on three (3) real properties. The apartment buildings for 1331 and 1333 Alabama Ave. S.E., Washington, D.C. were located on one (1) property.

Receiver was appointed for the specific purpose of remediating substantial code violations and health and safety issues at the properties, which included mold contamination, rodent and pest infestation, water infiltration, and security issues. A180-182.

On December 27, 2017, the Defendant became the title owner of the Congress Heights properties, and it was fully aware that the properties were subject to a receivership at the time. A302, A309. The Defendant was also aware at that time of the Receiver's proposed plan for installing new roofs on the buildings at the properties. A180. Replacement of the buildings' roofs was critically important to the Receiver's proposed remediation plan as the leaking roofs were causing many of the interior code violations and health and safety issues. A182.

Plaintiff and the Receiver estimated that replacement of the roofing and 50% of the roof decks at all four (4) buildings would cost \$209,876.00. A185. However, due to the significant remediation work anticipated at the properties, the Receiver requested that the property owners provide funding in the total amount of \$2.4 Million Dollars to pay for the remediation work.<sup>5</sup> A188.

remediation work. See D.C. Code § 42-3651.05(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Receiver requested funding from the property owners because the rent received from the tenants of the apartment complex was not enough to pay for the

The Defendant had the opportunity to object to the receivership and the Receiver's proposed plan, and the Defendant submitted an alternative remediation plan, filed briefs and presented testimony to the Superior Court. A299. The Defendant's alternate plan stated that the buildings' roofs could be patched at a cost of \$165,456 – instead of the \$209,876 replacement cost proposed by the Receiver. A307. As such, the Defendant's own plan recognized that the roofs required remediation work at significant cost. A307.

In its July 13, 2018, Order, the Superior Court rejected the Defendant's alternative plan for the roofing work, and it concluded that the Receiver's estimate of \$209,876 for replacement of the roofs and 50% of the decking was reasonable. A307. In addition to the roofing work, the Superior Court authorized the Receiver to perform other remediation work at all three (3) of Defendant's properties including replacing windows and balcony doors, mold remediation, interior code work unrelated to mold, and other repair work. A306-310. The Superior Court ordered the Defendant to provide a "first installment" of funding for the Receiver's plan in the amount of \$895,159.60 "with the understanding that significant additional sums of money may be necessary to remediate the property." A306, A310, A433.

Subsequent to the Superior Court's Order implementing the remediation plan, a fire occurred at 1331 Alabama Ave. which caused structural damage and

roof damage to the buildings at 1331 and 1333 Alabama Ave. A313. In addition, asbestos was discovered in all four (4) buildings at the properties. A319-320. Although the fire damage and asbestos were not considered in the Superior Court's July 13, 2018, Order, they were code violations and health and safety issues at the properties which fell within the Receiver's responsibility and authority for remediation. *See* D.C. Code § 42-3651.06; A176-177, A2310.

The Receiver intended to sequence the remediation work in two phases.

A318-319, A323-4. Phase 1 of the work would largely consist of asbestos removal and installation of new roofs on the buildings. A322. Phase 2 would consist of mold abatement, window and door replacement, and numerous other work items.

A324. In connection with the Phase I remediation work, on January 30, 2019, the Receiver contracted with Plaintiff to perform the following scope of work at Defendant's properties:

General Conditions including Supervision & PM	\$ 74,500.00
Mobilization Costs including Temporary Fence, Utility Shut-	\$ 53,250.00
Offs, Boarding Up, Dumpsters	
Bulk Removal from 1309 Alabama and 3210 13th St	\$ 9,600.00
Bulk Removal from 1331 and 1333 Alabama Av (Using Hazmat	\$ 24,400.00
Procedures)	
Abatement of Asbestos Containing Drywall from the Top Floor	\$193,276.00
Ceiling and Wet Walls in Bathrooms and Kitchens – ALL 4	
Buildings	

Demo and install new Roofing at ALL 4 Buildings. Includes new roof deck and replacement of up to 50% of rafters	\$311,535.006
Structural Repairs in Fire Damaged Units at 1331 Alabama Av	\$ 39,786.00
Subtotal	\$706,347.00
Overhead @ 4.5%	\$ 31,785.62
Contractors Fee @ 5%	\$ 35,317.35
Insurance	\$ 7,734.50
Grand Total	\$781,184.46

A322, A326.

On February 27, 2019, Plaintiff mobilized to the job site to begin performance of its contract work. A331. However, prior to beginning its roof replacement work, the Receiver notified Plaintiff to suspend its roof replacement work for the buildings at 1309 Alabama Ave. and 3210 13th Street. A401. The Receiver did *not* issue a deductive change order to Plaintiff's contract which terminated the roofing work on those buildings. A602. Instead, the Receiver notified Plaintiff that it was going to seek additional funding from court, and it directed Plaintiff to suspend the start of its roofing work on those buildings as a cost savings measure. A399-401, A602. Plaintiff was under the belief that it would later perform the roofing work on 1309 Alabama Ave. and 3210 13th Street

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The difference in the roofing work price between Plaintiff's initial estimate (\$209,876.00), and its contract price (\$311,535.00), was due to replacement of all of the roof decking instead of 50% decking in the estimate and the added cost of replacing 50% of the rafters. A185, A322, A584-585.

once the Receiver obtained additional funding from the court. A606-609, A626-627.

However, the roofing work on the buildings at 1331-1333 Alabama Ave. was not impacted by the Receiver's suspension of the roofing work for the buildings at 1309 Alabama Ave. and 3210 13<sup>th</sup> Street. A399-402, A602-603. The Receiver never directed Consys, Inc. to suspend its roofing work for the buildings at 1331-1333 Alabama Ave. *Id.* In addition, prior to completion of its roofing work, the Receiver never stated or notified Plaintiff that payment for its roofing work at 1331-1333 Alabama Ave. would be contingent upon the Receiver obtaining additional funding from the court. A602. Plaintiff expected to be fully paid for its roofing work at 1331-1333 Alabama Ave. in accordance with its contract. A602, A616.

By April 25, 2019, Plaintiff had completed most of its roofing work on the buildings at 1331-1333 Alabama Ave. A402. Some roofing work relating to penetrations for ventilation pipes remained unfinished at that time because Plaintiff would have to install the penetrations in the roofs after the Phase 2 plumbing work was completed in the interior of the buildings. A637, A687-688. As of April 25, 2019, Plaintiff had *not* completed its contracted roofing work for the buildings at 1309 Alabama Ave. and 3210 13<sup>th</sup> Street. A402. Also, Consys, Inc. had not completed its structural repairs for the fire damaged units at 1331 Alabama Ave. at

that time.<sup>7</sup> *Id*. Accordingly, Plaintiff's contracted scope of work for the properties was not completed or terminated as of April 25, 2019. *Id*.

In connection with Plaintiff's April 2019 Invoice, the Receiver paid Plaintiff \$50,000.00 of the \$351,385.00 invoiced amount. A605. Plaintiff's roofing work at 1331-1333 Alabama Ave. comprised \$248,287.00 of the total unpaid invoice balance of \$301,385. A402.

Upon receipt of the partial payment for its April 2019 Invoice, Plaintiff did not abandon its contract work but, understandably, Plaintiff notified the Receiver that it was not going to perform any additional work under its contract with the Receiver until its April 2019 Invoice was paid in full. A606-609, A626-627. Plaintiff was willing and able to perform the remainder of its work once it received payment for the work it already performed. *Id*.

Due to the contentious relationship between the Receiver and the Defendant, Mr. Gilmore requested that the Superior Court remove him as the Receiver for the properties.<sup>8</sup> A404. On August 21, 2019, after consideration of numerous briefs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In addition, as of April 25, 2019, none of the Receiver's Phase 2 remediation work relating to window and door replacement, etc., had been started or completed for the properties. A399, A402, A412.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Before his removal, the Receiver made at least two informal requests to the Superior Court for additional funding in order to pay Plaintiff for the work it performed, and admitted that Plaintiff was owed \$301,385 for its work. A405-406, A414.

and several days of hearings, the Superior Court ordered that Mr. Gilmore be replaced as Receiver and that the Defendant's property and buildings located at 1331-1333 Alabama Ave. be removed from the receivership. A453-463. The Defendant's properties at 1309 Alabama Ave. and 3210 13<sup>th</sup> Street remained in the receivership. A452, A457. In its Order, the Superior Court did not address Mr. Gilmore's informal requests to pay Plaintiff \$301,385 for the work it performed. *Id*.

On November 15, 2019, Plaintiff filed its notice of intent for mechanic's lien in the Superior Court to preserve its statutory mechanic's lien rights for the unpaid work it performed on the Defendant's property at 1331-1333 Alabama Ave. A464. On March 27, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Complaint in the Superior Court asserting a cause of action to enforce its mechanic's lien. A1.

On December 13, 2021, Eagle Bank issued a letter of credit as an undertaking for the purpose of bonding off Plaintiff's mechanic's lien against Defendant's real property. A528. On December 16, 2021, the Defendant filed Eagle Bank's undertaking with the Superior Court and, as a result, Plaintiff filed its release of the mechanic's lien on December 17, 2021. A528, 530.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Consys timely filed its notice of mechanic's lien in the Superior Court. The Project at issue was not completed or terminated prior to August 21, 2019. The

Receiver had express authority to assume the rights of Defendant, and to act on behalf of the Defendant, in entering a contract with Plaintiff to remediate the Defendant's properties. The Receiver had express authority pursuant to the TRA and the Superior Court's Orders relating to the receivership. The Superior Court also erred in failing to apply the law of the case regarding its prior holdings on the Receiver's authority. The Receiver did not exceed his authority by contracting with Plaintiff to perform the roofing work at issue in Plaintiff's mechanic's lien. The roofing work was expressly authorized by the Superior Court's Order which implemented the Receiver's remediation plan. In addition, the filing of an undertaking, and a related lien release, did not summarily dismiss Plaintiff's underlying cause of action to enforce its mechanic's lien.

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. APPELLANT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN WAS TIMELY FILED.

In its Final Order, the Superior Court denied Plaintiff's mechanic's lien on the ground that Plaintiff failed to timely file its notice of mechanic's lien pursuant to the requirements of D.C. Code § 40-301.02. A93-95. Plaintiff appeals the Superior Court's conclusion that its notice of lien was not timely filed. Plaintiff timely filed its notice of mechanic's lien during construction or within 90 days of completion or termination of the Project at issue. A461, A464.

# A. The D.C. Superior Court Applied the Wrong Legal Standard in Determining When Consys, Inc.'s Notice of Mechanic's Lien was Required to be Filed

In determining whether Plaintiff's notice of mechanic's lien was timely filed, the Superior Court erred by applying the wrong legal standard. D.C. law states that a notice of mechanic's lien "shall be recorded during the construction or within 90 days after the earlier of *the completion or termination of the project*." D.C. Code § 40-301.02 (emphasis added).

However, in its Final Order, the Superior Court erroneously held that "[t]he deadline to file a notice of mechanic's lien *is based on the date that the contractor stops performing work or providing materials.*" A94 (emphasis added). This is not true, and contradicts the standard established in D.C. Code § 40-301.02. In holding that the triggering event for filing a notice of lien is when the contractor stops performing work or providing materials, the Superior Court erred in its calculation of whether the Plaintiff timely filed its notice within 90 days of completion or termination of the Project at issue. In essence, the Superior Court erred by holding that the 90-day clock started to tick when Plaintiff stopped performing work or providing materials instead of holding that the clock started ticking upon the completion or termination of the Project at issue. A93-95. *See* D.C. Code § 40-301.02.

## **Standard of Review**

The issue of when a notice of mechanic's lien is required to be filed is a question of law and should be reviewed de novo. D.C. Code § 17-305(a). *See FDS Rest., Inc. v. All Plumbing Inc.*, 241 A.3d 222, 227 (D.C. 2020) ("On appeal from a bench trial, we review the trial court's legal conclusions de novo and its factual findings for clear error."); D.C. Code § 40-301.02.

### **Discussion**

In determining whether a notice of mechanic's lien is timely filed, D.C. law unambiguously states that the triggering event for the 90-day lien filing period is based upon the day *the project* was completed or terminated, whichever is earlier. D.C. Code § 40-301.02. D.C. law does *not* state that a contractor must file its notice of lien within 90-days of when it stops performing work or providing materials. D.C. Code § 40-301.02. *See Phoenix Iron Co. v. The Richmond*, 6 Mackey 180 (D.C. 1887) (holding that "our statute makes the completion of the building the point from which the time for the filing of the notice of the lien is to be reckoned, and not the completion of the work . . . . ").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> If the District had intended for the triggering event to be the day a contractor stopped performing work or providing of materials, it could have easily included such language within D.C. Code § 40-301.02 just as other jurisdictions have done. See Va. Code § 43-4 (requiring a contractor to file its lien within 90-days of the last day of the month when it last performs work).

In its Final Order, the Superior erred as a matter of law by not following the requirements of D.C. Code § 40-301.02. The Superior Court held in error that "[t]he deadline to file a notice of mechanic's lien *is based on the date that the contractor stops performing work or providing materials.*" A94 (emphasis added). By applying the wrong legal standard in its Final Order, the Superior Court miscalculated the 90-day window in analyzing whether Plaintiff's notice of lien was timely filed. The Superior Court wrongfully focused on when Plaintiff stopped performing work and concluded that Plaintiff completed its *work*<sup>10</sup> on April 25, 2019. A93-94. The Superior Court did not make a finding or conclusion as to when *the Project* at issue was completed or terminated. A93-95.

By wrongfully concluding that the triggering event for Plaintiff's lien filing was April 25, 2019 (when Plaintiff stopped performing work), the Superior Court held that Plaintiff's November 15, 2019, lien filing was untimely because it was required to file its notice of lien by July 24, 2019 (90 days from April 25, 2019). A94. Accordingly, the Superior Court applied the wrong legal standard in analyzing whether Plaintiff's notice of lien was timely filed. D.C. Code § 40-301.02, A93-95. D.C. Code 40-301.02 states that the triggering event for filing a

<sup>10</sup>

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