No. 22-CV-869

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



CONSYS, INC.,

Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

CITYPARTNERS 5914, LLC

and

EAGLE BANK

Defendants-Appellees.

Appeal from the D.C. Superior Court Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law Case No. 2020 CA 002042 R(RP)

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Barry A. Haberman, Esquire D.C. Bar No. 388956 51 Monroe Street Suite 1507 Rockville, Maryland 20850 (301) 340-1055 barry@bhabermanlaw.com Counsel for Appellee

RULE 28(a)(2) CERTIFICATE AS TO PARTIES RULE 28

A. Parties and Counsel

Appellant:

Consys, Inc.

732 Kennedy Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20011

Appellant Counsel:

Brad C. Friend, Esquire

Kraftson Caudle

1600 Tysons Boulevard, Suite 250

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

^{§ 42–3651.06(}d)-(e). Further, the TRA enjoins an owner from "collecting rents and payments for use and occupancy for the duration of the receivership." D.C. Code § 42–3651.06(i).

code violations if abatement is required within 7 days of service of notice, and, after abatement of the conditions, to abate housing code violations if abatement is required within 30 days of service of notice; and (2) As a second priority, for other purposes reasonably necessary in the ordinary course of business of the property, including maintenance and upkeep of the rental housing accommodation, payment of utility bills, mortgages and other debts, and payment of the receiver's fee.")(emphasis mine).

The TRA also establishes the process for funding the remediation plan.² A receiver is required to fund the remediation plan through the collection of the Monthly Rental Income. See generally D.C. Code § 42–3651.01 *et seq.* A426. ("[T]he default under the TRA is that the remediation should be funded by the rents collected by the receiver, with only supplemental funding as necessary in appropriate circumstances"). When such funds are insufficient to implement the remediation plan, the Court, in limited circumstances, may order an owner to contribute funds in excess of the Monthly Rental Income. See D.C. Code § 42–3651.05(f)(1). The TRA empowers the Court, not the receiver, to determine the extent of an owner's liability to fund the remediation plan so that the Court may "exercise its oversight of a [r]eceivership...in a way that it designed to achieve the purposes of the TRA." See John v. District of Columbia, 813 A.2d 178, 181 (D.C. 2002)("the whole focus of the statute is not on punishing the owners or

² The D.C. Council passed the Abatement of Nuisance Properties and Tenant Receivership Amendment Act of 2008 ("the Act") to address certain issues with the statutory framework of Tenant Receiverships, including the amount and source of funding for the remediation of properties under receivership. See generally D.C. Council, Report on Bill 17-0729. Prior to the passage of the Act, "a receiver ha[d] access to only 50% of the rent proceeds from which to abate housing code violations...[;]" a receiver had no access to or authority to use any other funds, including the funds of an owner. Id. at p. 5. The D.C. Council determined that, under the existing framework, 50% of the rent proceeds were" an often insufficient amount to comprehensively deal with building where severe and long standing violations persist[ed]." Id. To address this issue, the Act amended the statutory framework of Tenant Receiverships to "authorize [a] receiver to use 100% of rent proceeds to abate violations..." and to "grant[] to the court the authority to order a violative property owner to contribute funds in excess of the rent proceeds...." Id. at 5, 8. The D.C. Council intended to require a receiver to fund a remediation plan through Monthly Rental Income and other amounts as ordered by the Court, but no other amounts. See generally D.C. Council, Report on Bill 17-0729. The TRA clearly reflects such intent. A100.

others who have caused the housing violations, but instead is on remedying the violations to protect the tenants")("the receivership invokes an equitable remedy as it orders a receiver to manage the property, subject to court review")("a receivership itself has not historically been regarded as punishment, but rather a mechanism to achieve equitable ends"). The TRA is clear as to the funds a receiver is authorized to use in implementing its court-approved remediation plan—the Monthly Rental Income and other amounts as ordered by the Court. See generally D.C. Code § 42–3651.01. See also D.C. Code § 42–3651.05(f)(1).

Gilmore lacked actual authority to enter into an open ended, uncontrolled cost, contract with Appellant on Appellee's behalf because: (i) Appellee did not authorize Gilmore to act as its agent; and (ii) the TRA does not expressly create an agency relationship between a receiver and an owner of a rental accommodation. Gilmore was acting as a Court appointed Receiver with limited authority subject to the Remediation Plan approved by the Court and with funding approved by the Court. To allow Gilmore to enter into a "blank check" contract for any work he wanted and for any price he wanted would violate the Court Orders in the Receivership case and be inconsistent with the TRA express provisions. With respect to the TRA, there is also no implicit grant of authority to the receiver to act as the owner's agent. If the Council intended to authorize a receiver to act as the agent for an owner of a rental accommodation, the TRA would expressly reflect such intent. Further, such agency is not necessary to achieve the purpose of the TRA—"to safeguard the health, safety, and security of the tenants of a rental housing accommodation if there exists a violation of District of Columbia or federal law which seriously threatens the tenant's health, safety, or security" through the appointment of a "receiver of rents or payments for use and occupancy for the affected rental housing accommodation." See D.C. Code § 42–3651.01. Instead, the TRA requires a receiver to exercise specific power and duties in a specific manner, namely the

duty to implement a court-approved remediation plan using court-approved funding. Such specificity should be respected and no authority to act as the owner's agent should be read in to the TRA.

d. To the extent that Gilmore had actual authority to act on Appellee's behalf, Gilmore exceeded the scope of such authority.

Assuming arguendo the Court finds the TRA created an agency between a receiver and the owner of a rental accommodation, the TRA, along with orders issued in the Receivership Case, sets the scope of such agency. Looking to the Receivership Case, Gilmore had no authority to incur any liability on behalf of Appellee because the Court, when it appointed Gilmore, Court ordered the owner³ to provide Gilmore with an amount of funds equal to the total estimated cost of the activities described in the Plan. A299. The Court noted that: (i) the owner reserved the right to object to any additional financial liability for expenses incurred by Gilmore in fulfilling his duties subsequent to the submission of the Plan; and (ii) nothing precluded Gilmore from requesting additional funds if necessary. A299. The Court when it approved the Plan determined Appellee was obligated to pay an amount totaling \$895,159.60, representing the full cost to implement the plan, plus a 20% contingency thereon and certain relocation costs. A299. The Court ordered such amount "based on the understanding that, as the parties discussed at the June 27, 2018 hearing, if this amount is insufficient to cover remediation costs, [Gilmore] is free to apply for additional funds." (emphasis mine). A299. By requiring Gilmore to request additional funds, if necessary, the Court provided Appellee an opportunity to review and object to such requests. Gilmore was entirely aware of, and agreed to, this requirement.

³ Then, the former owner, Sanford Capital, LLC.

Prior of the commencement of the additional work proposed by the Appellant, Gilmore was aware that he lacked sufficient funds to pay for such additional work. A329. Gilmore continued to implement the Plan despite such knowledge, preventing the Court from exercising its oversight function. A329.

Gilmore eventually requested the Court to order Appellee to provide additional funds related to the Work even though he had not accounted for the first tranche of funds provided by Appellee and which were sufficient to pay for any work previously performed. A403. (requesting the Court to order Appellee to provide additional funding for the Plan in the amount of \$190,144.00.). The Court expressly rejected this request stating that "[The additional amounts requested to fund the Plan] [are] an extraordinary sum for the Court to order in additional remediation costs when the Court's initial order funding the implementation required payment of \$895,159.60, and when the value of the buildings at [the Property] are estimated at \$2,860,293.33....In concluding that this unanticipated cost is extreme and unwarranted under the circumstances,...the Court is looking to what is reasonable in light of all relevant circumstances when exercising its equitable power to oversee a receivership...")(emphasis mine). A426.

Gilmore further acted outside the scope of his authority in remediating damage caused by the fire, not the conditions caused by an owner. The fire damage fell outside the scope of the initial court approved remediation plan. The TRA is designed to remediate "conditions that are caused by an owner." A100. (referencing D.C. Council, Report on Bill 17-0729 at 2-3 ("when amending the law to allow the Court to order the owner to pay funds in excess of the rents, the Council identified as the "problem" it intended to solve the fact that "some landlords purposely neglected apartment units in the hope that conditions would become so intolerable that tenants would be forced to vacate their homes" so that the landlord could then sell the buildings)"). The fire

damage...[was] an unanticipated and undiscoverable condition. Gilmore proceeded to address damage caused by the fire (i.e. not the owner) without seeking the Court's guidance, thereby falling outside of the scope of the Plan and his authority.

Gilmore lacked actual authority to enter into a contract with, or otherwise accept the services of, Appellant on Appellee's behalf because: (i) the TRA does not explicitly grant such authority; and (i) to the extent such authority exists, Gilmore exceeded the scope of such authority by: (a) failing to request the Court to order Appellee to pay additional amounts to fund the Plan; and (b) entering into an agreement to address damage falling outside the scope of the remediation plan (i.e. damage caused by the fire).

e. Appellant did not reasonably believe Gilmore had authority to act on Appellee's behalf.

Moreover, Appellant did not and could not reasonably believe Gilmore had authority to act on Appellee's behalf (i.e. apparent authority).

[Apparent authority is] the power to affect the legal relations of another person by transactions with third persons, professedly as an agent for the other, arising from and in accordance with the other's manifestations to such third persons. Thus, unlike actual authority, apparent authority does not depend upon any manifestation from the principal to her agent, but rather from the principal to the third party. This court has stated that apparent authority arises when a principal places an agent in a position which causes a third person to reasonably believe the principal had consented to the exercise of authority the agent purports to hold. This falls short of an overt, affirmative representation by a principal. In such circumstances, an agent's representations need not expressly be authorized by his principal. The apparent authority of an agent arises when the principal places the agent in such a position as to mislead third persons into believing that the agent is clothed with the authority which in fact he does not possess. Apparent authority depends upon the third-party's perception of the agent's authority. The third party's perception may be based upon written or spoken words or any other conduct of the principal which, reasonably interpreted, causes the third person to believe that the principal consents to have the act done on [its] behalf by the person purporting to act for [it]....

Whether an agent had apparent authority is a question of fact and the party asserting the existence of apparent authority must prove it. In determining whether the agent had apparent authority to bind the principal, consideration should be given, interalia, to the actual authority of the agent, the usual or normal conduct of the agent in the performance of his or her duties, previous dealings between the agent and the

party asserting apparent authority, any declarations or representations allegedly made by the agent, and lastly, the customary practice of other agents similarly situated.

Makins v. District of Columbia, 861 A.2d 590 (D.C. 2004)(internal citations and quotations omitted)(emphasis mine)

An agent "can[not] create apparent authority by his own actions or representations. Id. at 597.

Appellant could not reasonably believe Gilmore had authority to act on Appellee's behalf because Appellee had no communications with Appellant prior to the commencement of the Work and admitted during the trial that it's only contact for this job was with Gilmore and did not believe it was making any contract with Appellee. Such communications cannot support a finding of apparent authority. A633. (An agent "can[not] create apparent authority by his own actions or representations.) Without such direct communications between Appellant and Appellee and with Appellant's acknowledgement that it knew it was contracting with Gilmore only, there is no apparent authority.

As regards Appellant's claim that the law of case required the trial court to find Gilmore was the agent of Appellee, the case cited by Appellant, *Kritsidimos v. Sheskin*, 411 A.2d 370 (D.C. 1980) actually states otherwise. In that case the court concluded that for a preliminary ruling to be the law of the case, it has to have finality and clearly Motions to Dismiss or for Reconsideration as Appellee filed in this case did not have finality. Even the Appellee's summary judgment motion would not meet the test of finality as there was no court hearing, no evidence or testimony taken and no ruling other than a proforma denial in anticipation of trial. As stated in *Kritsidimos* at 373 in reviving a dismissal for failure to prosecute which was at issue in that case:

"Unlike many other pretrial motions, which we have said generally lack the finality necessary to constitute the "law of the case." *United States v. Davis, supra*, these two types of motion often require hearings and findings of fact – exactly the kinds of judicial

exercises the "law of the case" doctrine is designed to prevent being repeated. We conclude, then, that the first limitation on the "law of the case" doctrine - lack of finality of the first order - is absent in the present appeal; a dismissal for failure to prosecute has sufficient finality to trigger the "law of the case" doctrine."

The facts of this case clearly fall in the exceptions to the law of the case analysis set forth in *Kritsidimos*. The pretrial motion to dismiss and for reconsideration of that motion were not subject to any hearings or argument, no evidence was presented, and testimony taken. Thus, those motions would not meet the finality test of *Kritsidimos*. As regards the summary judgment motion, the same analysis applies. No argument was taken, no hearing occurred, no findings of fact were issued. The Court simply denied the Motion without prejudice and pushed the case forward towards trial. Thus, the prior rulings should not be considered the law of the case in this matter and that was correctly decided by the trier of fact in this case. Lastly, this was also not raised by Appellant at trial.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Barry A. Haberman

Barry A. Haberman, Esquire (DC Bar #388956)

51 Monroe Street

Suite 1507

Rockville, Maryland 20850

Telephone: (301) 340-1055

Facsimile: (301) 340-1167

Email: Barry@BHabermanlaw.com

Attorney for Appellee

District of ColumbiaCourt of Appeals

REDACTION CERTIFICATE DISCLOSURE FORM

Pursuant to Administrative Order No. M-274-21 (filed June 17, 2021), this certificate must be filed in conjunction with all briefs submitted in all cases designated with a "CV" docketing number to include Civil I, Collections, Contracts, General Civil, Landlord and Tenant, Liens, Malpractice, Merit Personnel, Other Civil, Property, Real Property, Torts and Vehicle Cases.

I certify that I have reviewed the guidelines outlined in Administrative Order No. M-274-21 and Super. Ct. Civ. R. 5.2, and removed the following information from my brief:

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